## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 85,167

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

VS.

FILE D
SID J. WHITE
MAR 8 1995

CLERK, SUPREME COURT
By \_\_\_\_\_\_Chtef Deputy Clerk

### LARRY WASHINGTON,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR CERTIORARI REVIEW

## PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

WILLIAM A. SPILLIAS

Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 909769 1655 Palm Beach Lakes Boulevard Suite 300 West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 Telephone: (407) 688-7759

Counsel for Petitioner

#

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT
STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS2
SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT6
ARGUMENT8
WHETHER THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL ERRED IN HOLDING THAT AN ASHLEY VIOLATION CREATED AN ILLEGAL HABITUAL FELONY OFFENDER SENTENCE.
CONCLUSION26
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE27

## TABLE OF CITATIONS

Anderson v. State, 637 So. 2d 971 (Fla. 5th DCA 1994)25
Ashley v. State, 614 So. 2d 486, 490 (Fla. 1993)
Bell v. State, 624 So. 2d 821 (Fla. 2d DCA 1993), rev. denied, 634 So. 2d 622 (Fla. 1994)5, 6, 7, 8, 16, 17
Brown v. State, 616 So. 2d 1137 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993)18, 20
Ciccarelli v. State, 635 So. 2d 149 (Fla. 2d DCA 1994)17
Cole v. State, 640 So. 2d 1194 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994)
Gonzalez v. State, 639 So. 2d 134 (Fla. 2d DCA 1994)16
Hall v. State, 643 So. 2d 635 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994)17
Hannah v. State, 623 So. 2d 855 (Fla. 3d DCA 1993)25
Heatley v. State, 636 So. 2d 153 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994), rev. denied, So. 2d (Fla. Sept. 7, 1994)14, 20
Horton v. State, 19 Fla. L. Weekly D2469 (Fla. 1st DCA Nov. 22, 1994)14
Jenkins v. State,         634 So. 2d 1143 (Fla. 3d DCA 1994)
Jones v. State, 639 So. 2d 147 (Fla. 5th DCA 1994), review pending, No. 84,150 (Fla. Nov. 23, 1994)
Lee v. State, 642 So. 2d 1190 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994)17
Lewis v. State, 636 So. 2d 154 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994)20, 24
Mansfield v. State, 618 So. 2d 1385 (Fla. 2d DCA 1993)

609 So. 2d 598 (Fla. 1992)6, 12, 20, 21, 23
Roberts v. State, 559 So. 2d 289, 290-91 (Fla. 2d DCA), rev. dismissed, 564 So.2d 488 (Fla. 1990)20
Robinson v. State, 373 So. 2d 898 (Fla. 1979)18, 19
Simmons v. State, 19 Fla. L. Weekly D2407 (Fla. 1st DCA Nov. 14, 1994)20
<u>State v. Brown</u> , 622 So.2d 17 (Fla. 5th DCA 1993)17
State v. Will, 19 Fla. L. Weekly D2334 (Fla. 3d DCA Nov. 9, 1994)14, 17
Syples v. State, 621 So.2d 574 (Fla. 2d DCA 1993)
Thompson v. State, 638 So. 2d 116 (Fla. 5th DCA 1994), review pending, No. 83,951 (Fla. Nov. 23, 1994)15
Voth v. State, 638 So. 2d 121 (Fla. 5th DCA 1994)23
Washington v. State, 20 Fla. L. Weekly D252 (Fla. 4th DCA Jan. 25, 1995)1
Wilson v. State, 19 Fla. L. Weekly D2353 (Fla. 4th DCA Nov. 9, 1994)5, 11
STATUTES
Section 775.084, Florida Statutes8
RULES
Rule 3.172, Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure13

## PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Respondent was the Defendant and Petitioner was the prosecution in the Criminal Division of the Circuit Court of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit, in and for Broward County, Florida. Respondent was the Appellant and Petitioner was the Appellee in the Fourth District Court of Appeal. In this brief, the parties shall be referred to as they appear before this Honorable Court, except that Petitioner may also be referred to as the State.

In this brief, the symbol "A" will be used to denote the appendix attached hereto, the decision hereunder review reported as Washington v. State, 20 Fla. L. Weekly D252 (Fla. 4th DCA Jan. 25, 1995).

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On September 4, 1992, Respondent was charged by information with burglary of a dwelling (R. 37-38). Respondent's attorney thereafter entered a plea of not guilty on behalf of Respondent (R. 38). On September 18, 1992, the State filed a notice of intent to have Respondent declared an habitual felony offender and/or an habitual violent felony offender (R. 42-43). On October 19, 1992, Respondent withdrew his previously entered plea of not guilty and entered an open plea of guilty (R. 2-13, 44-46).

Defense counsel stated during the plea hearing that he explained to Respondent the ramifications and consequences of pleading guilty. Defense counsel stated in relevant part as follows:

I have gone over the case with [defendant] and there is really not much of a case and he wants to plead guilty, which I explained to him. John Countryman is the prosecutor. He is not here today. He is on vacation, but he submitted a note to [Assistant State Attorney] Ms. Brown and I told [defendant] that Mr. Countryman would be recommending 10 years as a habitual offender and for at the sentencing he possibly would have recommended it today.

I advised [defendant] he is basically pleading open to the mercy of the court. He may get we recommend, what the defense recommends, he may get what the State recommends, he may get somewhere in the he might get less than what recommend or even more than what the State recommends.

So do you understand that you're putting yourself completely at the mercy of the court? I can't predirect [sic] what the Judge is going to do after he receives the pre-sentence investigation.

Do you understand you may get habitual offender, you may not get a straight prison sentence or you may get a Barbera, which we will be requesting? Do you understand that?

(R. 4-6). Respondent answered in the affirmative to defense counsel's questions (R. 6). The trial court then informed Respondent that it could sentence Respondent as an habitual offender, but also informed him that if it sentenced him as a non-habitual offender such sentence would have to be within the permitted range of the guidelines (R. 7). At the conclusion of the plea hearing, defense counsel informed the trial court as follows:

I just want to place on the record I did see [defendant] twice at the jail since arraignment. One was on September 22nd, the day after I received discovery for about 45 minutes, and the other time was October 14th, which I guess was last Wednesday, if I'm getting my dates right, for about 25 minutes, and I explained to him in detail all the rights and what he is risking by this plea.

(emphasis added) (R. 12). Furthermore, the written plea agreement signed by respondent indicates an habitual offender sentence as a maximum penalty (R. 44). Moreover, the trial court found that

Respondent voluntarily, knowingly, and intelligently waived his constitutional rights, and that he freely entered into the plea agreement (R. 11).

At Respondent's sentencing hearing, Respondent's counsel stated in part as follows:

And another positive was basically I went over the score sheet with him and running the local cases. All his cases are in Broward County. I advised in my estimate that his guidelines would be nine to twelve or twelve to seventeen. They are in that range right in the middle.

I have advised him the permitted range is nine to twenty-two. I advised him even if I filed a Barbera motion the likelihood of him getting that is slim. He has a long history. He has prior similar offenses, and Larry might be looking at a habitual offender. I explained to him that he qualified. Legally that would be up to the court.

I have no idea when he plead on October 9th what the court would do. I'm not a mind reader. I advised him that most clients think I am a mind reader, but I'm not. I have no idea what the court is going to do this morning. So all I can add is that Larry has plead open to the court guilty and knowing full well that he is running that risk.

(emphasis added) (R. 30). The trial court thereafter sentenced respondent to 12 years' imprisonment as an habitual offender, to be followed by five years' drug offender probation (R. 34, 57-60).

Respondent did not object to the sentence imposed, nor did he move to withdraw his plea before the trial court.

Respondent subsequently appealed his sentence to the Fourth District Court of Appeal. The Fourth District, in its opinion filed January 25, 1995, reversed Respondent's sentence, pursuant to Ashley v. State, 614 So. 2d 486, 490 (Fla. 1993), "[b]ecause the trial court did not confirm that [Respondent] was aware of the maximum habitualized penalty he could receive as a habitual offender..."; the court noted that its recent decision in Wilson v. State, 19 Fla. L. Weekly D2353 (Fla. 4th DCA Nov. 9, 1994), was directly on point and thus compelled reversal and remand for resentencing to a maximum fifteen-year sentence (See Ex. A). As in Wilson, the court certified conflict with Bell v. State, 624 So. 2d 821 (Fla. 2d DCA 1993), rev. denied, 634 So. 2d 622 (Fla. 1994).

Based upon the certified conflict, Petitioner invoked the discretionary review jurisdiction of this Court, and by order issued February 17, 1995, this Court postponed decision on jurisdiction, but set a briefing schedule.

Petitioner's Initial Brief on the Merits follows.

## SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The record is undisputed that Respondent received written notice of the State's intent to seek habitual offender status prior to the acceptance of his plea of guilty on October 19, 1992 (R. 2-13, 42-46). The only problem in the instant case arises from the fact that the trial court failed to confirm that Respondent was aware of the maximum sentence he could receive if sentenced as an habitual offender.

The Fourth District Court of Appeal, certifying conflict with Bell, held that because the trial court's failure amounted to an Ashley violation, the sentence must be reversed and remanded for resentencing to a maximum fifteen-year sentence, without giving the trial court the opportunity to allow Respondent to withdraw his plea. The State submits that because the harmless error rule has been applied by this Court in Massey v State, 609 So. 2d 598 (Fla 1992), a case where the defendant was not given prior written notice of the State's intent, the harmless error rule applies in the instant case. Under the harmless error rule, it is clear that because Respondent did receive written notice, and was prepared for the hearing, he was not prejudiced by the trial court's failure to confirm that Respondent was aware of the maximum penalty before

accepting the plea. Therefore, the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

In the alternative, the State would submit that since Respondent did not move to withdraw the plea with the trial court, the issue is one that can only be decided after a hearing, where the Respondent and his counsel can assert whether Respondent had, or did not have, actual knowledge of the maximum penalty under the habitual felony offender statute. Thus, the decision rendered below should be quashed, and the reasoning of Bell adopted, wherein the cause would be remanded to the trial court to give Respondent an opportunity to withdraw his plea and thereafter enter a new plea to the charges, or to proceed to trial.

#### ARGUMENT

WHETHER THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL ERRED IN HOLDING THAT AN ASHLEY VIOLATION CREATED AN ILLEGAL HABITUAL FELONY OFFENDER SENTENCE.

Petitioner, the State of Florida, submits that the Fourth District Court of Appeal was incorrect when it held in effect that, under Ashley, Respondent's habitual offender sentence was an illegal sentence. The opinion below is in conflict with Bell v. State, 624 So. 2d 821 (Fla. 2d DCA 1993), rev. denied, 634 So. 2d 622 (Fla. 1994). The State submits that the issue was properly decided in Bell, and therefore, the decision hereunder review should be quashed, and the reasoning of Bell adopted as the correct resolution of the issue.

The <u>Bell</u> Court's resolution of the issue can be said to be the correct one with more emphasis under the particular facts of this case. The record clearly shows that notice of intent to seek enhanced penalties pursuant to Sec. 775.084, <u>Fla. Stat.</u> was filed by the State on September 18, 1992 (R. 42-43). Respondent entered his plea of guilty on October 19, 1992 (R. 2-13, 44-46). At the change of plea hearing, defense counsel stated that he had discussed the case with Respondent, had informed Respondent that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup><u>Ashley v. State</u>, 614 So. 2d 486 (Fla. 1993).

the State would be recommending an habitual offender sentence, that Respondent was basically pleading open to the mercy of the trial court, and that Respondent may get an habitual offender sentence; Respondent confirmed that he understood defense instructions (R. 4-6). Furthermore, at the conclusion of said hearing, defense counsel informed the trial court that he had explained to Respondent in detail all his rights and what he was risking by his plea (R. 12). Also, the written plea agreement signed by Respondent indicates an habitual offender sentence as a possible maximum penalty (R. 44). The trial court also informed Respondent that it could sentence him as an habitual offender, but also informed him that if it sentenced him as a non-habitual offender such sentence would have to be within the permitted range of the quidelines (R. 7). Furthermore, the trial court found that Respondent voluntarily, knowingly, and intelligently waived his constitutional rights, and that he freely entered into the plea agreement (R. 11).

In Ashley v. State, 614 So. 2d 486 (Fla. 1993), this Court held:

[I]n order for a defendant to be habitualized following a guilty or nolo plea, the following must take place prior to acceptance of the plea: 1) The defendant must be given written notice of intent to habitualize, and 2) the

court must confirm that the defendant is personally aware of the possibility and reasonable consequences of habitualization. (footnote 8 omitted)

Id. at 490. In the instant case, the first requirement of Ashley was satisfied, as noted by the Fourth District Court of Appeal, because it is clear that Respondent received the September 18, 1992, written notice of intent to habitualize well **prior** to acceptance of the plea on October 19, 1992, and Respondent confirmed as such (R. 5). With reference to the second Ashley requirement, this Court explained as follows:

The defendant should be told of his or her eligibility for habitualization, the maximum habitual offender term for the offense, the fact that habitualization may affect the possibility of early release through certain programs, and, where habitual felony offender provisions implicated, the mandatory minimum term. rule, "[c]ounsel in the for noted prosecution and the defense shall assist the trial judge in this function." Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.172(a).

Ashley, n. 8 at 490. Under the facts and circumstances of the instant case, the State submits that the second requirement of Ashley was also met because it is undisputed that Respondent had discussed the case with his attorney, was well aware that the State was seeking habitualization, and agreed and understood that he was eligible for habitualization. Further, the plea form Respondent

executed October 19, 1992, provides an habitual offender sentence as the maximum penalty and states that Respondent discussed the legal consequences of his plea with defense counsel (R. 44-45). Thus, it can be inferred that defense counsel informed Respondent what the maximum habitual offender sentence would be for the charged offense. However, because the trial court did not confirm from Respondent personally that he was aware what the maximum habitual offender term for the charged offense might be, and without taking into consideration the harmless error rule, the Fourth District held that this case involved a straight Ashley violation. The Fourth District then proceeded to explain that Wilson v. State, 19 Fla. L. Weekly D2353 (Fla. 4th DCA Nov. 9, 1994), was directly on point and thus compelled reversal and remand for resentencing to a maximum fifteen-year sentence (Ex. A).

The State submits that the Fourth District's interpretation of Ashley was erroneous. It is clear that in Ashley remand for resentencing under the guidelines was the only legal sentence available to the trial court at the time of sentencing. The State submits, however, that in the instant case, where Respondent had notice of the State's intent to seek habitualization in his case, and where Respondent confirmed that he had discussed the consequences of pleading guilty with his attorney prior to the

acceptance of the plea, the trial court below had the discretion to sentence Respondent either under the guidelines or as an habitual felony offender if the State established that he qualified as such, in accord with the parties' understanding of the plea agreement.

In Massey v. State, 609 So. 2d 598 (Fla. 1992), the defendant went to trial representing himself. During the trial, the state announced that it was filing a notice of intent to have Massey sentenced as an habitual felony offender. After the jury found Massey guilty as charged, the notice of intent was filed in open court. The sentencing hearing was held more than three months later. On appeal, Massey contended that although his attorney had received a copy of the notice, his sentence must be reversed because the notice had not been served upon him prior to sentencing as required by the statute. Massey, at 599. This Court approved the District Court's application of the harmless error rule to the facts of the case, and held as follows:

The purpose of requiring a prior written notice is to advise of the state's intent and give the defendant and the defendant's attorney an opportunity to prepare for the hearing. This purpose was clearly accomplished because Massey and his attorney had actual notice in advance of the hearing. It is inconceivable that Massey was prejudiced by not having received written notice.

Id. at 600. In the instant case, it is uncontroverted that

Respondent received the required written notice; the problem, as noted in the Fourth District's opinion, arises out of the fact that the trial court failed to confirm from Respondent whether he was aware of the maximum sentence and the consequences of being sentenced as an habitual felony offender. As can be seen from the Massey opinion, whether the defendant is aware of what sentence he might be sentenced when he goes to trial is not an issue. issue only comes into play when the defendant enters a plea of quilty or nolo contendere due to the application of Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.172. Therefore, it is clear that, but for the defendant in Ashley pleading, thus putting the requirements of Rule 3.172 into play, the second requirement of Ashley would not have become an issue. Thus, it is clear that Ashley deals strictly with a voluntariness of the plea issue, and not an "illegal sentence" issue as held by the Fourth District sub judice.

A review of Ashley demonstrates that this Court found that because the defendant therein did not have notice prior to the plea being accepted that he might be sentenced as an habitual felony offender, and what the maximum sentence thereunder might be, the only legal sentence available to the trial court at the time of sentencing in that case was a guidelines sentence. The Ashley opinion clearly does not stand for the proposition that a

guidelines sentence is the only remedy.

The State's position is supported by the interpretation given to Ashley by other District Courts of Appeal. See Heatley v. State, 636 So. 2d 153 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994), rev. denied, So. 2d (Fla. Sept. 7, 1994) (The relief granted in Ashley (a quidelines or departure sentence) was appropriate in that case because it would have been the only sentence available to the trial court at the time it accepted Ashley's plea.) In Horton v. State, 19 Fla. L. Weekly D2469 (Fla. 1st DCA Nov. 22, 1994), it was stated "Ashley [does not stand] for a mechanical reversal in cases where a plea was entered and accepted voluntarily, after the defendant had proper notice of intent to seek habitual offender sentencing." The Horton court observed that "Ashley turned primarily on the prosecution's failure to give notice of intent to habitualize before the plea, " and concluded "that the primary consideration in Ashley was the state's complete failure to advise the defendant of its intent to seek habitual offender sentencing prior to the entry of the quilty plea." Therefore, the Horton court affirmed the trial court's denial of the defendant's motion to withdraw his plea under the facts of that particular case. In State v. Will, 19 Fla. L. Weekly D2334 (Fla. 3d DCA Nov. 9, 1994), the Third District reversed the trial court's granting of the defendant's motion to

set aside his plea. The Third District also stated that "Ashley ... represents an evolutionary refinement in the law relating to plea colloquies, ... . " The Fifth District Court of Appeal agrees with the First, Second and Third, that the Ashley opinion is dealing with the "law relating to plea colloquies" and was not strictly an "illegal sentence" issue as the Fourth District ruled in the instant case below. See Thompson v. State, 638 So. 2d 116 (Fla. 5th DCA 1994), review pending, No. 83,951 (Fla. Nov. 23, 1994) (Ashley requires that the defendant be made aware that someone (the State or the Judge) will seek habitual offender treatment prior to his plea so that he can take that into account in deciding whether or not to plea.); Jones v. State, 639 So. 2d 147 (Fla. 5th DCA 1994), review pending, No. 84,150 (Fla. Nov. 23, 1994) (Ashley appears to require a pre-plea notice of intent to habitualize for an habitual offender sentence to stand as legally valid).

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