## FILED

SID J. WHITE

MAR 27 1995

# IN THE MAR SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK SUPPEME COURT By

STATE OF FLORIDA,	)
Petitioner,	)
vs.	CASE NO. 85,167
LARRY WASHINGTON,	)
Respondent.	)

## RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

RICHARD L. JORANDBY
Public Defender
15th Judicial Circuit
Criminal Justice Building
421 Third Street/6th Floor
West Palm Beach, Florida 33401
(407) 355-7600

DAVID MCPHERRIN Assistant Public Defender

Attorney for Larry Washington

##

## **PRELIMINARY STATEMENT**

Petitioner was the prosecution in the Criminal Division of the Circuit Court of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit, In and For Broward County, Florida, and the appellee in the District Court of Appeal, Fourth District. Respondent was the defendant and appellant in the lower courts. The parties will be referred to as they appear before this Honorable Court.

The symbol "R" will denote the consecutively numbered record on appeal.

The symbol "P" will denote petitioner's initial brief on the merits.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent accepts petitioner's statement of the case and facts.

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

Respondent was sentenced as a habitual felony offender following a guilty plea. Prior to entering his plea respondent was served notice of petitioner's intent to seek a habitual offender sentence. However, the trial court failed, during the plea colloquy, to confirm that respondent was personally aware of the consequences of habitualization as required by Ashley v. State, 614 So. 2d 486 (Fla. 1993).

In vacating respondent's habitual felony offender classification the Fourth District Court of Appeal followed Ashley and remanded for resentencing under the guidelines. Respondent challenges not the voluntariness of his plea, but the legality of being classified as a habitual felony offender. In Ashley this Court concluded the error created a sentencing issue. The Fourth District Court of Appeal noted this Court's conclusion and granted respondent the same relief granted in Ashley. The cases in conflict with the remedy supplied in Ashley and respondent's case failed to consider this Court's conclusion regarding the sentence.

#### **ARGUMENT**

**OF** THE **FOURTH** DISTRICT COURT APPEAL CORRECTLY VACATED RESPONDENT'S HABITUAL FELONY OFFENDER SENTENCE AND REMANDED FOR IMPOSITION OF A GUIDELINE SENTENCE WHERE THE TRIAL COURT FAILED TO COMPLY WITH ASHLEY v. STATE AND, AS A RESULT, ERRONEOUSLY IMPOSED HABITUAL FELONY **OFFENDER** SENTENCE FOLLOWING RESPONDENT'S PLEA OF GUILTY.

All persons convicted of committing a felony, except a capital felony, are subject to being sentenced under the sentencing guidelines. § 921.001(4)(a), Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1992). The recommended sentencing ranges established under the guidelines are assumed to be the appropriate sentence for the offender. Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.701(d)(8). The sentencing guidelines also provide a permitted sentencing range which allows the sentencing judge to exercise some discretion, upward or downward, from that which is recommended without the necessity of having a reasonable justification or providing a written explanation. Id. Those sentencing ranges, recommended and permitted, establish the presumptive sentence which, absent extraordinary circumstances, should be imposed. Cf. Scurry v. State, 489 So. 2d 25, 28 (Fla. 1986); Albritton v. State, 476 So. 2d 158 (Fla. 1985).

Although departures from the recommended and permitted sentencing ranges are not encouraged, they are not prohibited. <u>Fla. R. Crim. P.</u> 3.701(d)(11). However, imposition of a departure sentence requires compliance with a special sentencing procedure. To depart from the presumptive sentencing range a reasonable justification supporting aggravation or mitigation must exist and the grounds justifying departure must be set out in writing. <u>Id.</u> Knowing imposition of a departure sentence without compliance with the sentencing procedure is error requiring resentencing within the guidelines. <u>See Pope v. State</u>, 561 So. 2d 554 (Fla. 1990).

Another form of departure from the presumptive sentence is habitual offender sentencing. See Ashley v. State, 614 So. 2d 486, 489 (Fla. 1993). Habitual offender sentencing results in the doubling of the statutory maximums and the reduction in the ability to obtain early release. <u>Id</u>. Unlike sentencing under the guidelines, which applies to all felony

defendant's except those charged with capital crimes, habitual offender sentencing applies only to those who meet its criteria. § 775.084, <u>Fla. Stat.</u> (1991). The Florida Legislature has determined that extraordinary measures should be taken against that select group which meets the habitual offender criteria. §§ 775.0841-775.0843, <u>Fla. Stat.</u> (1991). Among those measures are giving priority to the investigation, apprehension, and prosecution of career criminals, <u>Id.</u>, as well as increased prison terms upon conviction. § 775.084(4)(a), <u>Fla. Stat.</u> (1991).

Faced with sentencing a defendant, the court has a number of alternatives at its disposal. The court can impose a sentence consistent with the presumptive guidelines range, or it can impose a guideline departure sentence, or it can depart from the guidelines entirely and impose a habitual offender sentence. Based upon the inclusiveness of the sentencing guidelines, and the obstacles placed in the path of departure from its presumptive sentencing ranges, including the exclusive criteria of the habitual offender statute, it is apparent that sentencing pursuant to the presumptive guideline ranges is the rule, while departure sentences, whether under the guidelines or the habitual offender statute, are the exception.

Undoubtedly realizing that habitual offender sentencing is a departure from the normative view of sentencing, provided by the guidelines, and that the Legislature intended to bring the vast resources of the State to bear against those accused of being habitual felony offenders this Court adopted a sentencing procedure which must be followed before a court can lawfully impose a habitual offender sentence. See Ashley v. State, 614 So. 2d at 490. In Ashley the Court said:

[W]e hold that in order for a defendant to be habitualized following a guilty or nolo plea, the following must take place prior to acceptance of the plea: 1) The defendant must be given written notice of intent to habitualize, and 2) the court must confirm that the defendant is personally aware of the possibility and reasonable consequences of habitualization.

<u>Id</u>.

The procedure adopted in <u>Ashley</u> serves to balance the individual's right to due process with the Legislature's announced policy to use extraordinary measures in prosecuting habitual offenders.

Prong-two of the <u>Ashley</u> sentencing procedure requires the court to advise the defendant "of his or her eligibility for habitualization, the maximum habitual offender term for the charged offense, [and] the fact that habitualization may affect the possibility of early release through certain programs ...." <u>Id</u>. at 490, n. 8. This prong can only be accomplished through a pre-plea personal interview between the court and the defendant, it cannot be fulfilled by exchanges between counsel and the court. <u>Id</u>. at 491, n. 9. The failure to comply with the <u>Ashley</u> procedure requires reversal of the habitual offender sentence and resentencing under the guidelines, if so requested. <u>See Id</u>. at 491 & n. 10. In the case at bar, the trial court failed to carry out is obligation under prong-two of <u>Ashley</u>. Accordingly, since respondent has requested resentencing under the guidelines, rather than the opportunity to withdraw his plea, guideline resentencing is appropriate.

Appellant acknowledges that no objection was raised below to the trial court's failure to advise him consistent with the second prong of Ashley. However, errors of this nature, which are legal sentencing errors rather than ones that require the resolution of factual issues, can be raised on direct appeal even in the absence of a contemporaneous objection. Id. at 490; Taylor v. State, 601 So. 2d 540 (Fla. 1992). If it is apparent from the face of the record that the trial court failed to properly advise the defendant of the consequences of being sentenced as a habitual offender, reversal of the extraordinary sentence imposed is required and remand necessary for imposition of the normative guideline sentence. See Ashley 614 So. 2d at 491. Such is the case at bar. Therefore, the decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal to vacate respondent's classification as a habitual offender and remand for imposition of a guideline sentence was correct.

Petitioner asserts a number of arguments in support of its view that either no relief was warranted or that the improper remedy was granted. As a threshold matter, petitioner contends

Washington v. State, 20 Fla. L. Weekly D252 (Fla. 4th DCA Jan. 25, 1995).

that the trial court complied with the second prong of Ashley (P 10). This was accomplished, according to petitioner, through off record discussions between respondent and his attorney. Thus it can be inferred that respondent was adequately advised according to prong-two. Of course, petitioner freely admits that the trial court did not confirm with respondent his understanding of prong-two (P 11). As previously mentioned, the prong-two colloquy must be between the defendant and the trial court. Id. at 491, n. 9. The record unequivocally shows that no such colloquy occurred below. Accordingly, petitioner failed to shoulder its burden of establishing record compliance with Ashley. Cf. Alexander v. State, 575 So. 2d 1370, 1371 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991).

Assuming compliance with the second prong of Ashley can be established by resorting to inferences, the record at bar does not support that inference. Although the trial court advised respondent that he could be sentenced as a habitual offender, it failed to address the remaining aspects of prong-two (R 7). Neither the maximum habitual offender sentence nor the ineligibility for early release were discussed with respondent.<sup>2</sup> The trial court merely asked respondent if he discussed "this matter with your attorney" (R 10). In addition, at no time did respondent's attorney state that he advised respondent of the consequences surrounding habitualization. Significantly, the written plea form set forth the maximum possible penalty as 15 years (R 44), the maximum penalty for a non-habitual offender second degree felony. § 775.082, Fla. Stat. (1991).

In the alternative, petitioner, asserts that should it be determined that the trial court failed to adequately comply with prong-two, errors of that nature are subject to harmless error analysis and the error at bar was harmless (P 20). Petitioner relies upon Massey v. State, 609

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Respondent acknowledges that citizens of Florida have constructive notice of its laws. In spite of that maxim, this Court stated that the trial court must verbally confirm that the defendant is aware of these consequences. <u>Ashley</u>, 614 So. 2d at 491, n. 9. Respondent assumes that the language used by this Court in its decisions has purpose and meaning. Respondent also assumes, contrary to the tenor of petitioner's brief, that the language used by this Court has legal significance and should be followed.

So. 2d 598 (Fla 1992) to support its argument. In Massey this Court found that the state's failure to provide the defendant with advanced written notice of intent to habitualize was harmless error. The error was harmless because the defendant, although not notified in writing, was actually notified by the state that it intended to have him habitualized. The receipt of actual notice allowed the defendant an opportunity to prepare for his sentencing hearing in the same manner as would written notice. See Massey v. State, 609 So. 2d 598, 600 (Fla. 1992). Accordingly, no harm was precipitated by the error. Unlike Massey, where actual notice served as a substitute for written notice thereby rendering the error harmless, here respondent was not advised of the consequences of habitualization, either by the court in a preplea colloquy or through any acceptable substitute means. As a result, the rationale of Massey does not apply to the error at bar.

Lastly, petitioner, relying upon Bell v. State, 624 So. 2d 821 (Fla. 2d DCA 1993) rev. denied, 634 So. 2d 622 (Fla. 1994), argues that even if the trial court failed to properly advise respondent of the consequences of being sentenced as a habitual offender, and even if that error is not harmless the appropriate remedy is not to remand for imposition of a guideline sentence but instead to allow respondent to withdraw his plea and proceed to trial if, and only if, a motion to withdraw the plea was filed in the court below (P 11-20). Petitioner posits two arguments in support of its contention. The first ground appears to be based upon a perceived distinction between failures to comply with prong-one, written notice, and prong-two, discussion of consequences. According to petitioner, failure to provide written notice of intent to habitualize renders the habitual offender sentence "illegal". In that situation remand is necessary to correct the sentence by vacating the habitual offender status and resentencing under the guidelines. However, where the error arises from the trial court's failure to discuss the consequences of habitualization, the issue is not the legality of the sentence, but the voluntariness of the plea. When that is the case the sentence need not be corrected, rather the

plea need be withdrawn and the cause set for trial.3

Petitioner draws support for this artificial distinction from its mistaken belief that the sentence imposed in Ashley was "illegal". The sentence imposed in Ashley, while imposed in an erroneous manner, was not "illegal". See Judge v. State, 596 So. 2d 73, 76-78 & n. 1 (Fla. 2d DCA 1993)(reh'g en banc). A habitual offender sentence is "illegal" only if the defendant fails to meet the criteria for habitualization or the term of years imposed exceeds the statutory maximum. Id. at 78. Accordingly, remand in Ashley was not for the purpose of correcting an "illegal" sentence, but was instead due to the trial court's failure to follow the proper procedure in imposing a habitual offender sentence.

Petitioner also argues that the <u>Ashley</u> opinion was solely concerned with the absence of written notice and that the remainder of the opinion, which addressed the importance of consequence discussion was mere surplusage, obiter dicta, to which the remedy of remand for a guideline sentence did not apply. The <u>Ashley</u> court drew no such distinction between lack of prong compliance and appropriate remedies.<sup>4</sup> Rather, the Court announced that it is unlawful to impose a habitual offender sentence without written notice and consequence discussion, which will result in remand for a guideline sentence.

The decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal in Wilson v. State, 645 So. 2d 1045 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994), cited below as requiring resentencing within the guidelines, carefully analyzed this Court's decision in Ashley and concluded that failure to comply with

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Respondent has not, at any time, argued that the failure of the trial court to comply with prong-two rendered his plea involuntary. Neither has respondent sought to withdraw his plea.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The <u>Ashley</u> court could have remanded with directions to serve the defendant with notice of intent to habitualize followed by a discussion of the consequences of habitualization. Thereafter, the trial court could have inquired of the defendant whether he wanted to maintain his plea or withdraw it and proceed to trial. That, however, was not what was done. Because the trial court did not follow the proper procedure in imposing a habitual offender sentence remand was for imposition of a guidelines sentence.

its habitual offender sentencing procedure requires resentencing under the guidelines.<sup>5</sup> In Bell, the Second District, in cursory fashion, ignored this Court's conclusion that the failure to comply with the notice<sup>6</sup> requirements of 775.084 and Rule 3.172 created a sentencing issue and instead ordered that the defendant be given the opportunity to withdraw his plea. Bell, 624 So. 2d at 822. Based upon the arguments made above and the very holding of Ashley, the decision of the Fourth District in Wilson and, a priori, the case here under review, announced the proper remedy. Failure to comply with the requirements of Ashley precludes imposition of a habitual offender sentence. Accordingly, the decision under review should be affirmed.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Remand was for resentencing within the terms of the plea. Mr. Wilson, who received notice of intent to habitualize, entered an open plea to the non-habitual statutory maximum for a second degree felony of 15 years. Because the trial court failed to comply with <u>Ashley</u> in accepting Mr. Wilson's plea, habitualization was not a viable sentencing option. Therefore, the only available sentence was a guideline sentence. The facts at bar are almost entirely the same as those found in Wilson.

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